# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-28-2008

# Boise Tower Associates, LLC v. Hogland Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34333

### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

#### A. Nature of the Case.

In 2002, appellant Boise Tower Associates ("BTA") was constructing a 25-story condominium tower called the Boise Tower Project (the "Project") in downtown Boise, Idaho. On November 8, 2002, respondent Timothy J. Hogland ("Hogland"), as the director of the Boise Planning and Development Services Department (the "Building Department"), issued a stop work order that halted construction of the Project. On November 19, 2002, Hogland allowed construction of the Project to continue but only if the Building Department was granted the right to approve BTA's financing for the Project. On February 11, 2003, Hogland, without any hearing, rejected BTA's proposed financing for the Project and revoked BTA's building permit. Although the City Council of the City of Boise (the "City") reinstated the permit on April 9, 2003, the Project never recovered from the adverse publicity that followed Hogland's actions.

## B. Course of Proceedings.

BTA filed suit against Hogland and the City under 42 U.S.C. §1983 and for the tortious interference with BTA's contractual relations. The Honorable Darla Williamson, Fourth Judicial District, granted the respondents' summary judgment motion and dismissed all of BTA's claims. The District Court also denied BTA's partial summary judgment motion that Hogland and the City were liable under 42 U.S.C.§1983 in depriving BTA of its procedural due process rights. BTA appeals the denial of its partial summary judgment and the dismissal of its claims under 42 U.S.C. §1983, its tort claims for interference with contractual relations, and its takings claim.

### C. Statement of Facts.

# i. <u>Issuance of the Building Permit.</u>

On November 27, 1998, BTA submitted an application to the Building Department for a building permit for the shell and core of the building on the Project. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2 (Affidavit of Christopher Burke in Support of Boise Tower's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment), Ex. A (transcript of deposition of Timothy Hogland), p. 63, l. 12 – p. 65, l. 4 and Ex. 47. The Building Department approved BTA's application and issued a building permit on May 3, 2000. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 75, l. 25 – p. 78, l. 9 and Ex. 51. BTA requested, and the Building Department granted, a 180-day extension of its building permit until June 14, 2000. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 87, l. 13 – p. 90, l. 20; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3 (Affidavit of Fredrick Peterson in Support of Boise Tower's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment), ¶ 4. Under Section 106.4.4 of the 1994 Uniform Building Code ("UBC")<sup>1</sup>, a building permit expires if construction does not begin within 180 days after issuance of the permit or if the work is suspended or abandoned for a period of 180 days. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, Ex. 46, p. 1-6-1-7.

BTA commenced construction work on the Project prior to June 14, 2001, sufficient to keep its building permit in force and effect. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex A., p. 92, Il. 4-20; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 4. BTA continued with construction work on the Project between June 2001 and May 2002, at which time work was temporarily halted until construction financing could be arranged. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 110, Il. 7-10; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 4.

A complete copy of the 1994 Uniform Building Code ("UBC") as adopted by the City was attached as Ex. 46 to the deposition of Timothy Hogland which was attached as Ex. A to the Affidavit of Christopher Burke in Support of Boise Tower's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment which is Ex. 2 to the Clerk's Record in this appeal. Timothy Hogland testified at his deposition that the 1994 UBC was the official building code for the City of Boise applicable to the building permit at issue in this matter. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 74, Il. 6-25. For the convenience of the Court, a copy of Chapter 1 of the UBC entitled "Administration" is attached as an Addendum to this brief.

On May 15, 2002, concrete was poured for the foundation of the Project. That work was reported in an inspection report prepared by Materials Testing and Inspection ("MTI"), dated May 15, 2002. MTI was an independent inspector contracted by the Building Department to inspect work on the Project. A copy of MTI's May 15<sup>th</sup> inspection report was sent by MTI to the Building Department and was contained in its business records. Hogland and the City do not now dispute that the work described in that report was performed on the Project on May 15, 2002. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 6 and Ex. A; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 113, l. 16-23, p. 117, l. 19 – p. 118, l. 4, p. 123, l. 13 – p. 125, l. 11, p. 126, l. 23 – p. 127, l. 16, and Ex. 57.

# ii. BTA's Finance and Construction Progress.

During the summer of 2002, BTA was introduced to Marshall Investments Corporation ("Marshall"), a construction lender from Minneapolis, Minnesota, with which BTA's general contractor, Mortenson, had had significant prior experience. BTA and Mortenson had a number of meetings with Marshall, during which Marshall verbally committed to put together funding for the Project that would be constructed by Mortenson. On October 7, 2002, BTA received from Marshall a proposal for a construction loan in the amount of \$39,350,000. A requirement to close that loan was that BTA have executed presales agreements with buyers for 63 residential units. At the time, BTA already had at least 60 presales agreements. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 7 and Ex. B.

BTA and Mortenson were sufficiently optimistic about Marshall's funding proposal and commitment to fund the loan that they entered into a new construction contract on October 25, 2002. Mortenson also committed to restart construction on the Project immediately, pending funding of the loan by Marshall, and to pay the interim construction costs until Marshall closed the loan. Based on this commitment and execution of the new Mortenson/BTA general contract,

BTA authorized Mortenson to immediately resume construction work on the Project. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 8.

On November 7, 2002, Mortenson delivered to Hogland a letter notifying the Building Department of Mortenson's intention to resume construction on the Project on November 7th. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 8 and Ex. C. Hogland received the letter and understood from it that Mortenson was going to restart construction on the Project immediately. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 134, 1. 23 – p. 135, 1. 16.

Between May and November 2002, Hogland had received substantial pressure to do something about the Project. He testified in his deposition:

- Q. During that time period, May through November of 2002, did any representative of the City advocate or recommend that the building permit be canceled or revoked?
- A. There certainly was a lot of public opinion about this thing sitting there. It was causing all kinds of problems. There was newspaper stuff; there were people calling the city council. And at a city council meeting a council member indicated: What are you going to do about this? Something has to be done about this. This can't go on like this. They are getting lots of phone calls.

R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 130, Il. 5-17.

# iii. Stop Work Order.

On November 8, 2002, the day following Mortenson's November 7<sup>th</sup> letter, the Building Department served upon BTA and Mortenson a notice directing BTA and Mortenson to stop all work on the Project "until a meeting with [the Building Department] has been completed and a course of action agreed upon." Neither Boise nor Hogland had any discussion with BTA, or provided BTA with any notice or an opportunity to be heard, before issuing the notice. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 137, I. 3 – p. 138; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 9 and Ex. D.

Hogland admitted in his deposition that he issued the November 8th notice based upon the faulty assumption that work had last been performed on the Project on May 3, 2002, and that BTA's building permit had expired on November 8, 2002 because of the failure to do work within 180 days. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 138, 4 – p. 140, l. 11, p. 203, l. 21 – p. 204, l. 3. Hogland also admitted that if, in fact, work was performed on the Project on May 15, 2002, as indicated by the MTI inspection report, 180 days would not have run until November 11, 2002, and therefore, the building permit had not expired as of November 8th. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 224, l. 16 – p. 225, l. 17 and Ex. 57.

## iv. The Stipulation.

After receiving the November 8th stop work notice, Rick Peterson of BTA and Chuck Rauch, project manager for Mortenson, had meetings with Hogland, during which Hogland first advised them that BTA's building permit had expired for lack of construction activity within 180 days. Hogland told them in those meetings that he would extend the building permit for another 60 days if BTA satisfied a number of conditions, including providing the Building Department with a loan commitment to finance construction of the Project. Peterson and Rauch told Hogland that the 180-day period had not lapsed, and that construction work had been performed within the 180-day period. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 10; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 146, Il. 5-17. Peterson requested that Hogland investigate his records further before making any final decision on the building permit. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 10. Hogland refused. He told Peterson that BTA would have to sign a written stipulation establishing conditions under which BTA would be permitted to resume work under the building permit. He also told Peterson that the consequence for failing to meet those conditions by the deadline stated in the stipulation would be the expiration of the permit. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 142, I. 25 – p. 143, I. 25; R. Vol. I, p.

142, Ex. 3, ¶ 10. Hogland also refused to allow BTA to proceed with any work on the Project unless or until BTA agreed to the conditions of that stipulation. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 144, Il. 8-12; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 10.

On November 19, 2002, Hogland presented Rick Peterson of BTA with a written stipulation. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, Ex. E. Hogland told Peterson on that date that if he did not sign the stipulation as drafted, Hogland would tell the City Council at that night's City Council meeting that BTA's building permit had expired. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 153, I. 15 – p. 154, l. 12; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 11. Peterson protested. He told Hogland that Peterson's attorney had advised him not to sign the stipulation. Peterson further told Hogland that if Hogland or the City publicly announced that the building permit had expired, the adverse publicity would do serious damage to the Project. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 11; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 153, l. 15 – p. 155, l. 6. Peterson told Hogland that canceling the building permit would jeopardize his financing and cause BTA to lose condominium pre-sales. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 11. Mr. Peterson firmly believed at that time that if Hogland or Boise publicly announced cancellation or expiration of the building permit, the Project would come to an abrupt end. Id. When Hogland continued to insist that Peterson sign the stipulation, Peterson did so on November 19, 2002, but only after Hogland told him that if he did not sign it, Hogland would tell the City Council the permit had expired. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 156, Il. 7-11; R. Vol., I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 11. The stipulation signed by Peterson and Hogland required BTA to provide a loan commitment, approved by the City, for full financing of the Project within 60 days from the date of the agreement, or the building permit would be deemed expired. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, Ex. E.

On January 22, 2003, Hogland and Rick Peterson signed a written addendum to the November 19, 2002 stipulation, purporting to extend until February 4, 2003, the time within which BTA had to furnish a loan commitment for full financing to Boise, and providing that a loan for full financing must close no later than March 4, 2003. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 183, l. 17 – p. 184, l. 12 and Ex. 68. The addendum also provided that the failure to satisfy these conditions would result in cancellation of the building permit. *Id.* Peterson believed that he had no choice but to sign the addendum to the stipulation, because if he did not, Boise would cancel the building permit and the Project would likely come to an end. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 15.

On or about January 10, 2003, BTA delivered to the Building Department a signed loan commitment from Marshall to fund construction of the Project. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 162, I. 3 – p. 163, I. 18 and Ex. 63. On or about January 21, 2003, BTA delivered a letter to Hogland enclosing another copy of the Marshall loan commitment and a loan commitment from Washington Capital Management, Inc. ("Washington Capital"). In that letter, BTA indicated that Washington Capital was willing to renew the attached loan commitment depending upon the City's approval. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 177, II. 10-18 and Ex. 66; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 12 and Ex. F. The letter also stated:

Please provide BTA with your written approval of one or both commitments. In the event, you do not approve a commitment, please detail the reasons for the lack of approval and provide BTA with an opportunity to respond.

R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, Ex. F. On or about January 31, 2003, BTA furnished the Building Department with a new signed loan commitment from Washington Capital. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 188, Il. 3-23 and Ex. 70.

Hogland and the Building Department rejected the January 10<sup>th</sup> Marshall loan commitment. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 167, l. 11 – p. 168, l. 22; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3,

¶ 13. The Building Department requested some changes in the Washington Capital loan commitment. While BTA, Washington Capital, and the City were discussing these changes, Washington Capital advised Hogland that it deemed the loan commitment expired and no longer in effect. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 191, Il. 8 – p. 194, I. 18; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 16.

### v. Permit Revocation.

On February 11, 2003, Hogland delivered to Rick Peterson a letter advising BTA that its building permit had been canceled, or deemed expired, because BTA had failed to satisfy the condition of the stipulation requiring a signed loan commitment for full funding within the specified time period. Boise did not give BTA any hearing before canceling BTA's permit on February 11, 2003. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 208, l. 9 – p. 209, l. 14 and Ex. 75; R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 17.

Before Hogland had given his letter to BTA, Rick Peterson had requested that Hogland provide BTA a hearing before canceling the building permit. Hogland told him that BTA did not have a right to a hearing. Hogland even pointed Peterson to the provisions of the UBC that he said precluded a hearing. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 17.

Hogland admitted in his deposition that by the time he had notified BTA on February 22, 2003 that its building permit was cancelled, he had actually seen and reviewed the May 15, 2002 MTI inspection report. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 212, l. 4 – p. 213, L. 14.

#### vi. Subsequent Appeal.

On February 19, 2003, BTA requested an appeal before the Boise City Council of Hogland's decision. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 2, Ex. A, p. 211, 1. 25 – p. 212, 1. 12 and Ex. 76; R. Vol. I., p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 18. The City Council accepted the appeal and conducted a hearing on

April 9, 2003, during which it decided to reinstate BTA's building permit. During that April 9, 2003 hearing, Council member Jordan stated:

As I reviewed all of the information and all the testimony that we've had on this project, it really boiled down to one rather simple issue, and that is, how many days had gone on without work being done on the tower. We were provided with a document during the last week that showed that there had been a pour on May 15 which would mean that the permit had not in fact expired, and if the decision that we're talking about is whether or not 180 days had passed without work, and if, in fact, those 180 days had not passed, then it is difficult for me to find that that permit was in fact expired.

R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 18 and Ex. H.

The reinstatement of BTA's building permit came too late. As Mr. Peterson originally feared and forecasted in November 2002, the revocation of the building permit, and the adverse publicity surrounding it, led to cancellation of a number of pre-sale condominium purchase agreements and a withdrawal of further financing efforts on the Project by Marshall. BTA was never thereafter able to obtain alternative financing. The permit revocation and surrounding adverse publicity also caused Mortenson and its subcontractors to cease further work on the Project. The Project never recovered and came to an end. R. Vol. I, p. 142, Ex. 3, ¶ 19.

BTA's costs and investment in the Project is in excess of \$12,000,000. When BTA purchased the Boise Tower site and obtained a building permit, BTA's expectations were that the development would result in a completed condominium tower and that the sales of units would recover BTA's costs and investment and also result in substantial profit. To date, BTA has not recovered its costs and investment from the property. R. Vol. I, p. 143, Ex. 16 (Second Affidavit of Fredrick Peterson in Support of Boise Tower's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Reply in Support of Boise Tower's Motion for Summary Judgment), ¶ 3 and Ex. 16.

#### II. ISSUES ON APPEAL.

- A. Whether the Stipulation Agreement is *ultra vires* and void because the conditions of the Agreement exceeded Hogland's authority under the Uniform Building Code?
- B. Whether the Stipulation Agreement is void for lack of consideration?
- C. Whether the City and Hogland violated BTA's Constitutional Rights and are liable under 42 U.S.C. §1983?
  - 1. Whether a building permit is a protected property interest?
  - 2. Whether a hearing was required before BTA's building permit could be revoked?
  - 3. Whether Hogland had final policymaking authority on the particular issue of the expiration and revocation of building permits such that the City is liable for Hogland's decision?
  - 4. Whether Hogland is entitled to qualified immunity?
- D. Whether there are questions of fact which preclude the dismissal of BTA's taking claim by summary judgment?
- E. Whether there are questions of fact which preclude the dismissal of BTA's tort claims against Hogland?

#### III. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES.

#### A. Standard of Review.

This case is on appeal from the District Court's order granting summary judgment to the City and Hogland. "In an appeal from an order of summary judgment, this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment." Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Idaho State Tax Comm., 142 Idaho 790, 793, 134 P.3d 641, 644 (2006).

Rule 56(c) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part, that summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, and admission on

file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law . . .." "All disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party." *Robert Comstock, LLC v. Keybank Nat'l Assoc.*, 142 Idaho 568, 130 P.3d 1106 (2006).

## B. The Stipulation Agreement is Void.

The Stipulation Agreement and the requirement that Hogland had to approve financing for the Project plainly exceeded the authority granted to Hogland under the Uniform Building Code. A case remarkably similar to the facts of the instant case is *Black v. City of Ketchum*, 122 Idaho 302, 834 P.2d 304 (1992). In that case, the Supreme Court of Idaho reversed a trial court that had rejected the challenge of property owners to the conditions imposed by the City of Ketchum on the vacation of an alley that bisected their property. The property was intended by the owners to be developed as a motel. The City approved the vacation by an ordinance but required first that a building permit be issued for a motel that had been approved by the City and that a loan in the amount of at least \$2,500,000 had been funded for the construction of the motel. The property owners also signed an estoppel affidavit that stated that the conditions of the ordinance were acceptable and would not be challenged by them.

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