# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-16-2008

# Boise Tower Associates, LLC v. Hogland Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34333

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> BTA relies on **3883** Connecticut LLC v. District of Columbia, 336 F.3d 1068 (D.C. Cir. 2003), in focusing on the revocation. However, that case is silent on whether a final permit would necessarily follow, or if there was discretion as to issuing a final permit. In this case, the UBC is clear that the partial permit is discretionary and there is no guarantee that a final permit will be

its constitutional claims fail.

#### 2. The City Did Not Infringe Upon Any Property Right That May Have Existed

Even assuming that BTA had a property right in the limited building permit, there was no deprivation of that right under the facts of this case. Although there was a stop-work order (SWO) issued for a short time until additional safeguards were agreed upon concerning completion of the project and inspection of the foundation and lateral support of surrounding land, the building permit was never actually revoked. *See Cathedral Church of the Intercessor v. Village of Melverne*, 353 F. Supp. 2d 375, 386-87 (E.D.N.Y. 2005) (holding that SWOs were not property deprivations where they were "only temporary suspensions from which the Plaintiffs could get relief by satisfying the Village's conditions."). Here, the SWO issued by the City was a temporary action. For that reason, the Appellant's constitutional claims are without merit.

#### 3. BTA Was Given Sufficient Due Process.

This court has stated that "[p]rocedural due process requires that there must be some process to ensure that the individual is not arbitrarily deprived of his rights in violation of the state or federal constitutions." *Cowan v. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 143 Idaho 501, 510, 148 P.3d 1247, 1256 (2006) (quoting *Aberdeen-Springfield Canal Co., supra*, 133 Idaho at 91). This requirement is met when a party is provided with notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Aberdeen-Springfield Canal Co.*, 133 Idaho at 91. "The opportunity to be heard must occur at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner in order to satisfy the due process requirement." *Id.* 

issued. Thus, this situation is similar to that of a teacher whose hiring is discretionary, but also lacks renewable contract status. A teacher in such circumstances has been held to not have a property right in his or her continued employment. See Smith v. Meridian Joint Sch. Dist. No. 2, 128 Idaho 714, 723, 918 P.2d 583, 592 (1996). Similarly, a builder that has a partial permit issued at the City's discretion and no guarantee of receiving a final permit should have not property rights attached to having a building permit.

(internal quotation marks omitted). Moreover, "[d]ue process is not a concept to be applied rigidly in every matter. Rather, it is a flexible concept calling for such procedural protections as are warranted by the particular situation." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has rejected the notion that a pre-deprivation hearing is required in all cases. *Parratt v. Taylor*, 451 U.S. 527, 540-41, (1981). Interim suspensions of licenses and temporary seizures of property may be undertaken without a pre-deprivation hearing, provided there is sufficient factual basis for the action and that prompt administrative or judicial review of the merits of the decision is available. *See Barry v. Barchi*, 443 U.S. 55, 64, (1979). Moreover, an informal meeting with the decision-maker is sufficient to satisfy due process. *Weinberg v. Whatcom County*, 241 F.3d 746, 753 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001).

BTA argues that a pre-deprivation process was required; i.e., that it should have been given a hearing prior to the issuance of the stop-work order (SWO). This issue was addressed in **3883** Connecticut LLC v. District of Columbia, 336 F.3d 1068 (D.C. Cir. 2003), a case heavily relied on in BTA's brief. See Appellant's Brief at 13-14. In that case, a developer obtained permits to begin construction work on an apartment building. The District of Columbia subsequently issued a SWO in the midst of the initial stages of construction without first providing a pre-deprivation hearing. The plaintiff argued that "the procedure to challenge a SWO is constitutionally infirm because it does not guarantee a hearing before the SWO can issue." **3883** Connecticut LLC, 336 F.3d at 1074. The court rejected that argument reasoning that the District of Columbia had a "significant interest in maintaining its capability to act swiftly to bring an immediate halt to construction work that poses a threat to public health and safety or to the environment." Id. The court also found that because "the regulations provide for expedited post-deprivation review before two District officials and then immediate appeal to the District of the District officials and then immediate appeal to the District officials and then immediate a

Board of Appeals and Review—a procedure that reduces the risk of protracted harm from a wrongly-issued order," "these protections meet the requirements of due process." *Id. See also Licari v. Ferruzzi*, 22 F.3d 344, 348 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1994) (holding that in revocation of building permits, plaintiff's procedural due process rights were not violated because "postdeprivation remedies were available").

Under the UBC, Prmits automatically expire "if the building or work authorized by such permit is suspended or abandoned at any time after the work is commenced for a period of 180 days." UBC § 106.4.4. This period may be extended for up to 180 days "on written request by the permittee," but "[n]o permit shall be extended more than once." *Id.* 

Here, Hogland believed that no work had been done on the project for more than 180 days.<sup>10</sup> Thus, from Hogland's perspective, the building permit had automatically expired. *See* R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.," p. 133, Ll. 8-17; p. 138, Ll. 21-22; p. 141, Ll. 6-8. The expiration was not caused by any regulatory decision or action by the City. Instead, BTA had failed to advance the project. Moreover, there was a concern that because of the long period of time during which the project had sat idle, conditions at the construction site had deteriorated resulting in possible health and safety issues. As addressed in the Stipulation, these included rusting of steel bars and beams, in addition to the lateral support for surrounding property. *See also* R. 142, Ex. 9, Hogland Aff. ¶ 10 (discussing safety concerns with pit and exposed structural materials); R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.," p. 131, L. 15 – p. 132, L. 11 (discussing other public safety issues, including an incident where two women accidentally entered the work-site and were trapped).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Even then, the work performed was minimal—"equivalent to nailing a few nails on a house." *See* R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.," p. 127, Ll. 12-21.

In any event, BTA was given a prompt opportunity to be heard. The stop-work order<sup>11</sup> was issued on November 8, 2002, and directed BTA to cease work until there had been a meeting with Planning and Development. *See* R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.," Ex. 59. A meeting was held the following day—November 9, 2002. *See* R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.," p. 144, L. 19 – p. 145, L. 22. A proposed Stipulation was discussed, and a draft may have been prepared and presented to BTA. *Id.*, p. 145, L. 20 – p. 146, L. 4. At the meeting, BTA failed to provide any documentation to refute the fact the 180-day period had expired. *Id.*, p. 146, L. 5 – p. 147, L. 1. In short, there was only a 1-day delay between the time the SWO was issued and when BTA was given its first opportunity to be heard.

The BTA could have appealed the SWO to the building code committee or the City Council. See R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.", p. 155, Ll. 9 – 18 and Ex. 46, UBC § 105. Instead, BTA (with the assistance of legal counsel) proposed changes to the Stipulation and entered into a revised Stipulation on November 19, 2002. At that point, construction was allowed to resume. Thus, BTA negotiated and voluntarily entered into a modification of the terms and conditions of its building permit rather than use the procedure available to it to appeal the SWO. BTA cannot now complain of the lack of due process when it chose to forego the procedures that were available. See Ferguson v. Bd. of Trustees, 98 Idaho 359, 366, 564 P.2d 971, 978 (1977) (teacher waived right to due process hearing when he left the hearing early).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The City issued its directive to stop work via a "Correction Notice." *See* R. 142, Ex. 2 "Aff. of Christopher Burke," Ex. A, "Hogland Depo.," Ex. 59. Thus, that directive is variously referred to as a correction notice or stop-work order throughout the record.

Subsequently, BTA violated the terms of the Stipulation by not adhering to deadlines relating to financing. See R. 142, Ex. 9, Hogland Aff., ¶ 14. Although BTA argues that "[n]one of these meetings [i.e., those in November 2002] provided BTA with an opportunity to oppose the ultimate revocation of its permit when Hogland concluded that the two loan commitments presented on January 21, 2003 were insufficient," *Appellant's Brief* at 16, the facts establish that the parties did confer and, on January 22, 2003, Hogland and the BTA agreed to an two-week extension. See R. 142, Ex. 9, Hogland Aff., Ex. J. After BTA failed to meet the new deadline, Hogland informed it the Permit had expired. Id. at ¶ 15 and Ex. L.

BTA also argues that had it "been given an opportunity to be heard prior to the revocation of its permit, it could have shown that the City's building code does not allow the building official to revoke an existing building permit for failure to present proof of financing." *Appellant's Brief* at 16. This argument fails for two reasons. First, as noted above, BTA had an "opportunity to be heard" and to request an extension. If BTA failed to raise its legal objection, that was a decision by BTA rather than the lack of an opportunity to be heard. Second, whether the UBC permitted a condition that required proof of financing was moot in January 2003 because BTA had waived its rights to appeal the SWO, choosing instead to enter into a Stipulation adding the condition requiring it to provide proof of financing.

BTA subsequently appealed Mr. Hogland's determination to the City Council. A hearing took place on April 1, 2003. BTA was represented by counsel at the hearing and was allowed to present evidence and argument to the Council. *See* R. 142, Ex. 10, Burrows-Johnson Aff., Ex. A. On April 8, 2003, the City Council reinstated BTA's Permit. *See* R. 142, Ex. 10, Burrows-Johnson Aff., Ex. B. In other words, BTA had a full and fair opportunity to be heard and, in fact,

prevailed. These facts show BTA was afforded all procedural due process required by the federal constitution. The district court correctly dismissed the due process claims.

#### 4. BTA Did Not Suffer the Harm It Claims.

Throughout its briefing, BTA contends that the issuance of the SWO in November 2002 and subsequent hearings on whether the Permit had expired caused it to lose financing. For instance, in support of its argument for a pre-deprivation hearing, BTA contends that "[t]he revocation of the building permit and the adverse publicity surrounding it led to the cancellation of presale condominium agreements and the withdrawal of further financing efforts by the Marshall." Appellant's Brief at 18. BTA further contends that because of this, it has suffered damages in excess of \$12 million. *Id*.

BTA's contention is pure fiction. Through the "Document Dump", BTA produced relevant materials from its lenders which showed that one lender, Marshall, continued financing efforts until at least 11 weeks *after revocation* and at least 21 days *after the April 8, 2003, reinstatement* of the permit. *See* R. 143, Ex. 12, Allen Aff. Ex. H, BTA 08780 (April 30, 2003, letter from Marshall Investments Corp. offering to move forward with a loan commitment of \$40,600,000.00 with changes more favorable to BTA). In addition, BTA had other financers willing to provide the necessary financing. *See, e.g., Id.*, Ex. H, Bates 08388 (March 26, 2003 letter from Unique Property Development offering to finance project as part of joint venture); Ex. H, Bates 09267 (May 7, 2003, letter from Storm Consultants reporting loan commitment for up to \$30,000,000); Ex. H, Bates 09282 (May 9, 2003 letter from Unique Property Development revising the prior March offer to finance the project); Ex. H, Bates 09316 (June 2, 2003 letter from Unique Property Development expressing continued interest and wanting "to get to the point where we have an agreement in principle..."). Contrary to BTA's representations, the

Document Dump revealed that any financing problems BTA experienced were not caused by the SWO or the building permit but, instead, were caused by BTA's recalcitrant stance toward paying application and lending fees. *See, e.g.*, R. 143, Ex. 12, Allen Aff. Ex. H, BTA 08251 (April 24, 2003, letter from AMS Commercial, LLC, stating that "it appears that the conversation [with CMI] bogged down on the topic of the \$25,000 fee"); Ex. H, BTA 08256 (May 14, 2003 letter from BTA asking for waiver of \$25,000 fee); Ex. H, Bates 08324 (May 16, 2003 letter from AMS Commercial, LLC, noting that but for the dispute over the \$25,000 fee, "the loan could have probably been closed by now."). In short, the business records and documents produced by BTA in discovery show that Marshall was still interested in financing the project as late as April 30, 2003; and that BTA had other financiers interested in the project months after the April 2003 City Council hearing. There is no evidence that the issues surrounding the building permit caused BTA to lose its financing.

## B. <u>BTA HAS WAIVED ANY ARGUMENTS AS TO SUBSTANTIVE DUE</u> <u>PROCESS</u>.

As noted earlier, BTA argues that "[t]he constitutional rights that were deprived by the City and Hogland were BTA's rights to procedural due process." Appellant's Brief at 12. BTA has not made any arguments as to whether the Respondents violated its substantive due process rights. Accordingly, any such arguments are waived.<sup>12</sup> See Thomas v. Medical Ctr. Physicians, P.A., 138 Idaho 200, 205-206, 61 P.3d 557, 562-63 (2002).

#### C. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE CITY WAS</u> <u>NOT LIABLE FOR HOGLAND'S ACTIONS UNDER A RESPONDEAT</u> SUPERIOR THEORY.

The United States Supreme Court has held that, in enacting § 1983, "Congress did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In any event, the substantive due process claim would have been pre-empted because of the takings claim. *See N. Pacifica, LLC v. City of Pacifica,* 234 F. Supp. 2d 1053, 1063 (N.D. Cal. 2002) (citing cases).

intend municipalities to be held liable unless action pursuant to official policy of some nature caused a constitutional tort." *Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Serv. of City of New York,* 436 U.S. 658 (1978). Thus, "a municipality cannot be held liable *solely* because it employs a tortfeasor—or, in other words, a municipality cannot be held liable under § 1983 on a *respondeat superior* theory." *Id.* (italics in original). "Instead, it is when execution of a government's policy or custom, whether made by its lawmakers or by those whose edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent official policy, inflicts the injury that the government as an entity is responsible under § 1983." *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 694. *See also Sprague v. City of Burley*, 109 Idaho 656, 661, 710 P.2d 566, 571 (1985). *See also Rosenbaum v. City & County of San Francisco*, 484 F.3d 1142, 1155 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007).

BTA argues that Hogland was the final policy maker.<sup>13</sup> See Appellant's Brief at 20 - 26. BTA makes no argument that the actions complained of were long-term practices or policies adopted by the City, or that Hogland was a subordinate whose decisions were ratified by the final policy maker. Id. Thus, BTA has waived the latter arguments if they were ever applicable. See Thomas v. Medical Ctr. Physicians, P.A., 138 Idaho 200, 205-206, 61 P.3d 557, 562-63 (2002). Consequently, the narrow issue before this Court is whether under state law, did Hogland possess final policymaking authority?

Whether a particular official has final policymaking authority is a question of state law and a legal question to be resolved by the trial judge. *Jett v. Dallas Independent Sch. Dist.*, 491 U.S. 701 (1989). "State law," in this context, includes valid local ordinances and regulations. *St. Louis v. Praprotnik*, 485 U.S. 112, 125 (1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> This argument is at odds with BTA's opening argument which suggests Hogland exceeded his authority under the UBC. *See Appellant's Brief* at 11. Apparently, BTA is attempting to argue that Hogland was both a final policymaker, but also subject to limitations under a building code imposed on him by a higher authority.

When the decision of an official can be appealed to another, higher officer or body, that official is not a policymaker.

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